WOOA

017

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

MAR 3 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

JEFFREY L. STICKNEY, M.D.,
JAMES N. PAPPAS, M.D., DOUGLAS
STRINGHAM, M.D., TOM D.
HOWEY, M.D., PAUL T.
FORTIN, M.D., MARK FRANKLE,
M.D., and WILLIAM F. BENNETT, M.D.,

Petitioners/Appellants,

Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No.: 80,623

1st DCA Appeal No.: 92-3059

ν.

THE BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM,

Respondent/Appellee..

MAIN BRIEF OF PETITIONERS/APPELLANTS
ON THE MERITS
(with Appendix)

INTRODUCTION

As this case involves an appeal before the First District that was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction on the grounds of an improperly-filed notice of appeal in the wrong court, the record on appeal was never prepared by the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Leon County. For the convenience of this Court, counsel for the Petitioners/Appellants has prepared a 46-page Appendix containing all of the pertinent pleadings necessary for this Court's determination of the single issue presented for review in this cause, i.e. whether filing a notice of appeal in the appellate tribunal rather than the lower tribunal within the 30-day appeal period is jurisdictionally sufficient.

References in the brief to pages of the Appendix are designated by the letter "A," followed by the pertinent page number.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

In their amended complaint filed on or about February 12, 1992 in the Circuit Court for Leon County, the seven Petitioners brought claims against the Respondent Board of Regents for breach of agreement and negligence, stemming from the Respondent's sudden dismantling of its Orthopedic Surgery Residency Program at the University of South Florida ("USF") Medical School in Tampa (A1-11). The Petitioners, all medical doctors who had previously been appointed as Residents in the 5-years graduate medical education program, were enrolled in the program at the time of its dismantling (A2). Each of the Petitioners had enrolled in the 5-year program to satisfy the board certification requirements of the American Board of Orthopedic Surgery (A2). According to Petitioners, they had suffered damages, relocation expenses, lost earnings and future lost earning capacity as a result of Respondent's dismantling of the orthopedic residency program (A8-9).

On February 27th, 1992 the Respondent filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint, alleging *inter alia* lack of subject matter jurisdiction and sovereign immunity (A12-15).

On May 22, 1992 the Honorable George Reynolds, III, Circuit Judge for the Second Judicial Circuit, Leon County, rendered an "Order on Defendants' Motion to Dismiss the Action and Complaint," there dismissing the Petitioners' amended complaint with prejudice (A17-18). The deadline to file a notice of appeal from the dismissal order was Monday, June 22, 1992, as the 30th day from rendition fell on a Sunday.¹

Thereafter, on June 19, 1992, the Petitioners' counsel mailed their Notice of Appeal seeking review of the circuit court's dismissal order to the clerk of the First District Court of Appeal, along with the appropriate filing fee of \$250 (A19-21, 27).

See *Rubenstein v. Richard*, 346 So.2d 89, 90 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1977) (where 30th day to file notice of appeal fell on Sunday, last day for filing notice was extended to next business day courthouse open).

Copies of this Notice of Appeal were also served by U.S. Mail that same day of June 19, 1992 upon Respondent's two attorneys, which included Morris Shelkofsky, Jr., Assistant Attorney General, and Debra King, Senior Counsel for the University of South Florida (A19-20). As expressly found by the Circuit Judge, the Notice of Appeal was received and stamped by the Clerk of the First DCA as "FILED" three days later on Monday, June 22, 1992 (A27-28).² The style of the notice of appeal indicated it was "In the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit. . . Leon County" (A19). The Notice of Appeal which was "filed" by the First DCA on June 22, 1992 was returned by the First DCA clerk shortly thereafter to Petitioners' counsel in Tampa, with directions of the appellate clerk to file in the lower tribunal clerk's office (in Tallahassee) (A22).

On June 25, 1992, after receiving back the previously-filed notice of appeal from the First District court clerk, Petitioners' counsel then sent the notice, filing fee and a letter of explanation to the Clerk of the Circuit Court for the Second Circuit (A23). This notice, filing fee and letter were apparently never received at that time by the circuit clerk (A28).

Thereafter, on August 28, 1992, Petitioners filed a Notice of Refiling the Notice of Appeal in the Circuit Court, noting it had originally been "filed" in the First DCA on June 22, 1992 on a timely basis (A24-26). Eventually the *refiled* Notice of Appeal, reflecting a filing date of September 2, 1992, was forwarded on to the First DCA on September 8, 1992 (A29).

On September 9, 1992 the First DCA entered an Order to Show Cause for Petitioners' to show why the appeal should not be dismissed for failure to file timely notice of appeal (A30). After responses were filed by the Petitioners and Respondent

In an order entered by the circuit judge on September 8, 1992, the circuit judge made these undisputed factual findings of record that the notice and check had been "inadvertently mailed for filing to the First District Court of Appeal," and that the First District had "filed the Notice of Appeal on June 22, 1992, and affixed the 'filed stamp' as of that date (i.e. June 22, 1992)" (A27-28).

(A31-43), on September 30, 1992 the First DCA entered an order dismissing the appeal for lack of jurisdiction on the grounds that "the notice of appeal was not timely filed in the *proper court*." (A44).

Thereafter, on October 15, 1992 the Petitioners filed a timely Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to review to the order dismissing appeal (A45-46). Following the filing of jurisdictional briefs, this Court accepted jurisdiction and granted review on January 25, 1993.

ISSUE PRESENTED:

"WHETHER A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HAS JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN AN APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF A CIRCUIT COURT WHERE, AS HERE, (1) THE APPELLANT ERRONEOUSLY FILES A NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE DISTRICT COURT, RATHER THAN THE CIRCUIT COURT, AND (2) THE APPELLANT TAKES NO CORRECTIVE ACTION TO FILE THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IN THE CIRCUIT COURT WITHIN THIRTY DAYS OF THE RENDITION OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT."

-- Question as pending before this Court in <u>Restrepo v. First Union</u>, 591 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1992), <u>review pending</u>, Supreme Court Case Number 79,406 and <u>Alfonso v. State DER</u>, 588 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1991), <u>review pending</u>, Florida Supreme Court Case Number 79,096.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioners timely filed their notice of appeal within the 30-day period with the clerk of the appellate court, rather than the lower tribunal. The clerk of the appellate court failed to transfer the notice to the appellate court as required by Rule 9.040(b) and Fla. Const. Art. V, Sec. 2(a), but rather improperly mailed the notice back to the office of Petitioners' counsel. Notwithstanding, this Court in its more-recent *Skinner* and *Johnson* decisions has declared that the improper filing of an initial appeal pleading in the wrong court is indeed sufficient to invoke the appellate court's jurisdiction, receding from this Court's 1978 *Lampkin* decision. The appellate court in this case erred in dismissing the appeal on the ground that the otherwise timely notice was improperly filed in the appellate court rather than the lower tribunal, and the dismissal order conflicts with *Skinner*, *Johnson* and other district court decisions.

ARGUMENT

THE FIRST DISTRICT'S DECISION DISMISSING THE APPEAL BELOW FOR FAILING TO FILE THE OTHERWISE TIMELY NOTICE OF APPEAL IN THE "PROPER COURT" IS ERRONEOUS, SINCE A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL HAS JURISDICTION TO ENTERTAIN AN APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF A CIRCUIT COURT WHERE, AS HERE, (1) THE APPELLANT ERRONEOUSLY FILES A NOTICE OF APPEAL WITH THE DISTRICT COURT RATHER THAN THE CIRCUIT COURT, AND (2) THE APPELLANT IS UNABLE TO TAKE CORRECTIVE ACTION TO FILE THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IN THE CIRCUIT COURT WITHIN THIRTY DAYS OF THE RENDITION OF THE FINAL JUDGMENT.

Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.110(b) provides that jurisdiction of the appellate court "shall be invoked by filing 2 copies of a notice, accompanied by filing fees prescribed by law, with the clerk of the lower tribunal within 30 days of rendition of the order to be reviewed." In accordance with the provision of Fla. Const. Art. V, Sec. 2(a) requiring "transfer to the court having jurisdiction of any [appellate] proceeding when the jurisdiction of another court has been improvidently invoked," Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.040(b) provides with regard to filing in an improper forum:

"If a proceeding is commenced in an *inappropriate court*, that court *shall transfer* the cause to an appropriate court." (Emphasis added.)

Since the circuit court order sought for review was rendered on May 22, 1992, a notice of appeal must have necessarily been filed within 30 days of rendition, i.e. Monday, June 22, 1992. As the 30th day fell on Sunday, June 21, 1992, the 30-day period would have been tolled until Monday, June 22, 1992. See *Rubenstein v. Richard*, 346 So.2d 89, 90 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1977) (where 30th day to file notice of appeal fell on Sunday, last day for filing notice was extended to next business day that courthouse was open). Thus, a notice of appeal could be timely filed through June 22, 1992.

In this case the Petitioners inadvertently filed their notice of appeal, although on a timely basis within the prescribed 30-day period, with the Clerk of the First District Court of Appeal. Apparently on or about the last day of the 30-day jurisdictional period the district court clerk returned the notice to the Petitioners' counsel in Tampa, with directions for filing in the circuit court clerk's office back in Tallahassee (i.e. the "lower tribunal") (A22). Although the Leon County circuit court clerk's office was in close physical proximity to the First DCA, the appellate clerk made no effort to ensure that the notice was timely transferred to and filed in the circuit clerk's office. The notice was eventually refiled in the circuit court clerk's office, but well beyond the 30-day period (A29). The First DCA subsequently dismissed the appeal on the grounds that the notice of appeal was not timely filed in "the proper court" (A44).

Notwithstanding Petitioners' inadvertent filing of the notice of appeal in the district court (A27), said filing within the 30-day period was indeed sufficient to invoke the district court's appellate jurisdiction, even though the Petitioners might have properly filed the notice in the circuit court. See *Skinner v. Skinner*, 561 So.2d 260, 262 (Fla., 1990); *Johnson v. Citizens State*, 537 So. 2d 96 (Fla., 1989). In any event Fla. Const. Art, V, Sec. 2(a) and Rule 9.040(b) *mandate* that a timely but improperly filed initial notice in the district court *must* be transferred to the circuit court clerk, which was never done by the district court clerk here as required.

In Lampkin-Asam v. Third DCA, 364 So.2d 469 (Fla, 1978), a decision rendered in 1978 during the transitional period from the Florida Appellate Rules to the Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Court rendered its first interpretation of the effect of Rule 9.040(b). This Court in Lampkin approved the dismissal of a notice of appeal on jurisdictional grounds, where, as here, "the notice was inadvertently sent to the

When filing the notice in the district court on the last day of the 30-day period, the district court clerk apparently did not "transfer" the notice to the nearby circuit court clerk in Tallahassee as required by Rule 9.040(b) and Fla. Const. Art. V, Sec. 2(a).

District Court of Appeal . . . rather than to the Circuit Court." However, this Court has since receded from *Lampkin-Asam* in two situations where the parties seeking review by the district court filed their papers initiating the action in the wrong court and made the second error of mischaracterizing the relief and remedy sought, i.e. "two wrongs" and "two errors" in connection with an appellant's efforts to obtain appellate review of a trial court order.

In Skinner, 561 So.2d at 262, this Court held in 1990 that where an initial appeal pleading (a petition for certiorari) attempting to invoke the appellate jurisdiction of the district court is improperly filed with the district court, rather than a notice of appeal correctly filed with the circuit court clerk, such improper filing in the district court and seeking the wrong remedy is nonetheless sufficient to invoke the district court's appellate jurisdiction. As noted by this Court in Skinner, 561 So.2d at 262:

"It was the mistaken view of petitioner that the post-judgment order [of the circuit court] was, by its nature and content final, and therefore an appropriate matter for review by certiorari [in the district court]. As a result, petitioner filed with the district court a petition for certiorari instead of a notice of appeal with the circuit court. There is no question that an appellate court has jurisdiction to review a cause even though the form of appellate relief is mischaracterized. *Johnson*, 537 So.2d at 97. As a result, we believe that petitioner's timely filed application for certiorari in the district court was sufficient to invoke that court's appellate jurisdiction.

In Johnson, this court held that the filing of a notice of appeal in the circuit court was sufficient to confer jurisdiction on that appellate court in order to consider the appropriate remedy. We find no distinguishable difference between the scenario in allowing a petition for certiorari filed in the district court to confer jurisdiction on that appellate court in order to consider the appropriate remedy. We believe that once the district court's jurisdiction has been invoked, it cannot be divested of jurisdiction by a hindsight determination that the wrong remedy was sought by a notice or petition filed in the wrong place."

And in *Johnson*, 537 So. 2d at 98, the 1989 mirror-image situation of *Skinner*, this Court held that a notice of appeal improperly filed within the 30-day period in the lower tribunal (i.e. circuit court) was nonetheless sufficient to invoke the district court's appellate jurisdiction to consider a petition for certiorari, even though the notice was itself not timely *nor* properly filed in the district court within the 30-day period. This, again "two wrongs" were accomplished by the appealing party, by filing for the wrong remedy and filing in the wrong court. This Court emphasized in *Skinner*:

"[P]etitioner argues that no substantive reason exists for having to file a piece of paper with the clerk of the circuit court which will automatically be forwarded to the district court, especially when the reverse circumstances, district courts accepting notice of appeals filed in circuit court as petitions for certiorari has long been exercised. We agree."

In analogous situations to the case *sub judice* various district courts have similarly held that misfilings of appeal origination papers in wrong courts are indeed sufficient to invoke appellate jurisdiction. See: *Sanchez v. Swanson*, 481 So. 2d 481 (Fla., 1986) [where notice of appeal of county court order to circuit court was stamped as filed in circuit court (in its appellate capacity), improper filing of notice of appeal with circuit court clerk was sufficient to invoke circuit court's appellate jurisdiction]; *Sternfield v. Jewish Introductions*, 581 So.2d 987 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1991) (order of circuit court in appellate capacity quashed, which dismissed county court appeal where an initial appeal pleading was filed in circuit court); *Hines v. Lykes*, 374 So. 2d 1132, 1133 (Fla. 2 DCA 1979) [where notice of administrative appeal was timely filed with district court clerk, but not timely filed with lower tribunal (i.e. administrative agency), timely filing in district court sufficient to invoke district court's appellate jurisdiction].

It is also significant to point out that the notice of appeal filed by Petitioners clearly designates at the top of the page that it is filed "In the Circuit Court for the

Second Judicial Circuit" in Tallahassee (A19), although it was inadvertently mailed to and received by the nearby District Court Clerk in Tallahassee. The fact that the notice was specifically addressed to the *lower tribunal* in its caption, is further indication of a jurisdictionally-sufficient notice. See *Sanchez*, 481 So. 2d at 482, note 1.

Fla. Const. Art. V, Sec. 2(a) and general principles of due process of law require Rule 9.040(b) to be interpreted so as to mandate transfer of a correctly-denominated notice of appeal from the appellate court to the trial court. Otherwise, we will be left with the incongruous result that "two-wrongs-make-a-right" when it comes to invocation of appellate jurisdiction. It would be fundamentally unfair that the parties in *Johnson* and *Skinner* would be entitled to relief because they filed their initiating paper in the wrong court and sought the wrong remedy ("two wrongs"), but that the Petitioners herein would be left without a remedy because they only filed a correctly titled Notice in the wrong place ("one wrong"). If Petitioners had made yet another mistake, i.e. calling their appeal initiating document a "Petition for Certiorari," the law is clear at this time that the First District would indeed be under a *duty* to consider the merits of the appeal.

Petitioners urge this Court to reject the simplistic analysis which appears to support the transfer of cases in "two wrongs" situations, but which does not exist in cases involving only the *single* mistake of filing in the wrong court. That analysis seems to be that, because district courts have jurisdiction to hear *some* cases which arise when certiorari petitions are filed therein, the mere act of filing such a mislabeled petition somehow triggers a magic-like "switch" engaging the jurisdictional power of that court to awaken and to do whatever else is needed to hear any case on the merits, even when in the particular case certiorari will not lie. The analysis goes on to say that because the filing of a "notice of appeal" in a district court does not *ever* trip the switch of power in that court, then the filing of such a

correctly-denominated paper in the district court is ineffective to give rise to jurisdiction. Jurisdiction does not spring forth only in a magical fashion upon application for some obscure or improper writ being laid like dust into the clerk's files, but also upon application for the right remedy being timely filed in the specific appellate court which will exercise its review power to provide that remedy.

Notwithstanding, it is evident from the 1989 Johnson and 1990 Skinner decisions that this Court has receded from its 1978 holding of Lampkin. See Alfonso v. State DER, 588 So. 2d 1065, 1066 (Fla., 3 DCA, 1991) ("we agree that the continuing validity of Lampkin-Asan's narrow holding may be open to question in view of the Johnson and Skinner cases.") See also: Thompson v. Multi-Restaurant, 561 So.2d 1192, 1193 (Fla. 3rd DCA, 1990) ("the continued authority of Lampkin-Asam is dubious at best"). And in Johnson, 537 So. 2d at 98, this Court even noted in 1989, "we recede from Lampkin-Asan..."

The First DCA erred in dismissing Petitioners' otherwise timely notice of appeal for filing in the wrong place. Accordingly, the First District's order dismissing the subject appeal should be quashed, with instructions to determine the merits of the appeal therein.

CONCLUSION

Even though the notice was timely filed in the wrong court, such filing with the Clerk of the First District was sufficient to invoke the First District's appellate jurisdiction. See: Skinner; Johnson; Sanchez; Sternfield; Hines. Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, the Petitioners respectfully request this Honorable Court to quash the order of the First District dismissing the appeal.

SMITH, WILLIAMS & BOWLES, P.A. 712 S. Oregon Avenue Tampa, Florida 33606-2569 813-253-5400 Attorneys for Petitioners/Appellants

Bv:

Samuel R. Mandelbaum, Esquire Florida Bar Number: 270806

am Mandelbaum