5-21 SYDJ.WH APR 26 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA By-Chief Deputy Clerk

JEFFREY L. STICKNEY, M.D., JAMES N. PAPPAS, M.D., DOUGLAS STRINGHAM, M.D., TOM D. HOWEY, M.D., PAUL T. FORTIN, M.D., MARK FRANKLE, M.D., and WILLIAM F. BENNETT, M.D.,

Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 80,623

Petitioners,

1st DCA Appeal No. 92-3059

v.

THE BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA FIRST DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MORRIS E. SHELKOFSKY, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 165186

INTRODUCTION

This case involves an appeal before the First District Court of Appeal dismissed by that Honorable Court for lack of jurisdiction on the grounds that the Notice of Appeal was not timely filed in the proper Court. The record on appeal before this Honorable Court is a thirtythree (33) page record involving the Notice of Re-Filing of Notice of Appeal and attached Notice of Appeal, the Order to Show Cause of the First District Court of Appeal, the Appellants' Response to the Order to Show Cause, the Appellee's Reply to the Appellants' Response to Order to Show Cause and the Order dismissing the appeal for lack of jurisdiction. The record on appeal does not include pages 1-18, 22-23, 27-29, and 45-46. Regarding the Appendix filed by Appellant in this case, consideration should be limited to portions of the record deemed necessary to the understanding of the issues presented. Fla. R. App. P. 9.220. At no time did Appellants direct the Clerk of the Leon Circuit Court to include or exclude other documents or exhibits which may have been filed in the lower tribunal pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.200(a)(2). Moreover, no cross directions by Appellee to the Clerk to include documents and exhibits were made.

References in the Brief to pages of the record are designated by the letter "R," followed by the pertinent page number.

- 1 -

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee disagrees with Appellants' statement of the case and facts in several important particulars. Appellee strongly disagrees with the characterization by Appellant of the underlying complaint and indeed to any reference to the issues in the underlying complaint. These matters are not before this Honorable Court in any way and should be stricken and not considered by the Court in its determination of the merits of this Appeal. Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 n. 3 (Fla. 1986). It is inappropriate for a party to attempt to bring additional facts, mixed with argument, to this Court's attention for the purposes of determining the propriety of the dismissal for lack of jurisdiction by the First District Court of Appeal. Accordingly, Appellee respectfully asks that the Appellants' statement of the case and facts be stricken to the limited extent that it recites alleged facts concerning the basis of the Trial Court's dismissal which are not relevant.

Appellee also strongly disagrees with Appellants' statement of the case and facts regarding receipt and file stamping by the Clerk of the First DCA. Appellant argues that the Notice was received and stamped filed "on June 22, 1992" and cites in that regard the Order on Motion to Withdraw as Counsel of the Circuit Court Judge. It should be noted that this Order is not part of

- 2 -

the record of this case on appeal. However, the Notice of Appeal which is a part of the record reveals an illegible stamp date as the first indication of the Notice of Appeal being filed with the First District. (R, 4).¹ Determination of the date on which the Notice of Appeal was filed in the First DCA was not required under thencontrolling case law in the original decision to dismiss by the First DCA. Appellee asserts that the date of filing in

¹It should be noted that the copy of the Notice of Appeal which Appellants assert was served on the undersigned Appellee's counsel was file stamped as received in the Department of Legal Affairs, Civil Section, on June 24, 1992. Moreover, the Circuit Judge's Order on Motion to Withdraw as Counsel states that the First DCA returned the Notice of Appeal and filing fee to Smith and Williams on June 25, 1992. Return by the First DCA on June 25, 1992 is much more consistent with receipt by the First DCA on or about June 24, 1992, the same date as receipt of the Notice of Appeal by the Department of Legal Affairs. Unfortunately, Appellants' counsel alleges that they then sent the Notice of Appeal, filing fee and letter of explanation to the Clerk of the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit and that said counsel were later informed by the Deputy Clerk of that Court that the Notice of Appeal, filing fee and letter were never received.

However, it is entirely clear that no Notice of Appeal was filed in the Leon Circuit Court until September 8, 1992, a full seventy-nine (79) days after rendition of the Circuit Court's Order. This long tardiness in making the filing in the lower tribunal by Appellants pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.110(b) is undisputed. After forwarding of the tardy Notice of Appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, the First DCA entered an Order to Show Cause calling upon Appellants to show why the Appeal should not be dismissed for failure to timely file their Notice of Appeal. (R, 6). Thereafter, Appellants' Response and Appellee's Reply to the Order to Show Cause followed. (R, 8-9). In due course, the First DCA dismissed the Appeal for lack of jurisdiction noting that "the Notice of Appeal was not timely filed in the proper Court." (R, 10).

the First DCA is a matter which the First DCA should determine on consideration upon any remand.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petitioners failed to timely file their Notice of Appeal in the lower tribunal, the Leon Circuit Court, within the thirty (30) days prescribed by Fla. R. App. P. 9.110(b). The Clerk of the First District Court of Appeal returned the Notice of Appeal filed in the intermediate Appellate Court to Petitioners' counsel. Neither Fla. R. App. P. 9.040(b) nor Fla. Const. Art. V, §2(a) requires transfer to the lower tribunal of the Notice of Appeal. Having failed to properly invoke the jurisdiction of the First District Court of Appeal under then-controlling case law by filing the Notice of Appeal in the lower tribunal within thirty (30) days of rendition of the final Order, not seventy-nine (79) days, the Petitioners' Appeal was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction by the First District Court of Appeal in an action fully consistent with the Johnson and Skinner cases. Johnson v. Citizens State Bank, 537 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1989); Skinner v. Skinner, 561 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1990). Notwithstanding this history, the decision of this Honorable Court in Alfonso v. Department of Environmental Regulation appears to control the issue of this appeal. Alfonso v. Department of Environmental Regulation, 585 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), quashed and remanded, Fla. Sup. Ct. Case No. 79,096 (April 1, 1993).

- 5 -

ARGUMENT

On April 2, 1993, the undersigned counsel obtained a copy of the decision of this Honorable Court in <u>Alfonso v. Department of Environmental Regulation</u>, No. 79,096 (Fla. Sup. Ct. April 1, 1993). It appears that the Court's decision in <u>Alfonso v. Department of Environmental</u> <u>Regulation</u> is controlling of the legal issue in the instant appeal.

CONCLUSION

The decision of this Honorable Court in Alfonso

v. Department of Environmental Regulation, supra, appears controlling of the legal issue herein.